Public Document Pack

TONBRIDGE & MALLING
BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE SERVICES
Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill, West Malling
Kent ME19 4LZ
West Malling (01732) 844522

Chief Executive
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA

NB - This agenda contains proposals,
recommendations and options. These do
not represent Council policy or decisions
until they have received proper
consideration through the full decision
making process.

To:

Contact: Democratic Services
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk
8 September 2020

MEMBERS OF THE FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY ADVISORY
BOARD
(Copies to all Members of the Council)

Dear Sir/Madam
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Finance, Innovation and Property
Advisory Board to be held online via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 16th September,
2020 commencing at 7.30 pm. Information on how to observe the meeting will be
published on the Council’s website.
Yours faithfully
JULIE BEILBY
Chief Executive

AGENDA

PART 1 - PUBLIC
1.

Apologies for absence

5-6

2.

Declarations of interest

7-8

3.

Minutes

9 - 14

To confirm as a correct record the Notes of the meeting of the Finance, Innovation
and Property Advisory Board held on 22 July 2020
Matters for recommendation to the Cabinet
4.

Leybourne Lakes Country Park - Facilities Improvements

15 - 20

A report seeking fast track approval to Cabinet and subsequently Full Council to
include a project to build a purpose built lakeside facility at Leybourne Lakes
Country Park in List A of the Council’s Capital Plan.
5.

IT Strategy Update and Enterprise Document Management
System

21 - 28

An update on progress towards delivering the IT Strategy which was adopted in
June 2018. Members are requested to note the progress made, and are asked to
identify/suggest any relevant technology training that would assist Members in
discharging their roles. In addition, Members are asked to consider a capital plan
evaluation for an enterprise document management system and recommend to
Full Council that this be transferred to List A and funded from the Invest to Save
Reserve.
6.

Financial Planning and Control

29 - 58

The report:

7.

-

brings together information on three key budget areas – salaries, major
operational income streams and investment income. The performance of the
key budget areas, together with approved variations to the revenue budget
and areas identified through revenue budget monitoring are then summarised
to provide an indicative overall budget position for the year;

-

details the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Council’s finances and the
scale of the potential longer term impact on the Medium Term Financial
Strategy and Savings and Transformation Strategy and, in turn, savings and
transformation contributions required to balance the budget; and

-

updates Members on capital expenditure and variations that have been
agreed in relation to the capital plan.

Capital Programme: Post Implementation Reviews Monitoring
Report

59 - 68

This report identifies the post implementation reviews carried out since the
meeting of this Board in July 2019 and the capital plan schemes for which reviews
will be due. The report also brings forward a post implementation review in
respect of the Replacement Revenue and Benefits Document Management
System for consideration and approval.

8.

Local Emergency Assistance Grant

69 - 74

A report providing a brief description of the new Grant and making
recommendations on its use.
9.

Rural Rate Relief - Rural Settlement List

75 - 78

A report informing Members of the requirement to review the Council’s rural
settlement list and recommending that the current list should be retained,
unaltered, for the financial year 2021/22.
Matters submitted for Information
10.

Revenue and Benefits Update

79 - 90

A report detailing recent developments in respect of council tax, business rates,
council tax reduction and housing benefits.
11.

Urgent items

91 - 92

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.
Matters for consideration in Private
12.

Exclusion of Press and Public

93 - 94

The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would
disclose exempt information.
PART 2 - PRIVATE
Matters for Recommendation to the Cabinet
13.

Debts for Write Off

95 - 98

Approval is sought for the writing-off of debts that are considered to be
irrecoverable.
Matters submitted for Information
14.

Urgent items

99 - 100

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

MEMBERSHIP
Cllr M C Base (Chairman)
Cllr Miss G E Thomas (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr T Bishop
Cllr J L Botten
Cllr G C Bridge
Cllr C Brown
Cllr R I B Cannon
Cllr A E Clark
Cllr M O Davis

Cllr K King
Cllr Mrs R F Lettington
Cllr H S Rogers
Cllr K B Tanner
Cllr Mrs M Tatton
Cllr F G Tombolis
Cllr C J Williams

Agenda Item 1
Apologies for absence

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Declarations of interest

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
Wednesday, 22nd July, 2020
Present:

Cllr M C Base (Chairman), Cllr Miss G E Thomas (Vice-Chairman),
Cllr T Bishop, Cllr G C Bridge, Cllr C Brown, Cllr R I B Cannon,
Cllr A E Clark, Cllr M O Davis, Cllr K King, Cllr Mrs R F Lettington,
Cllr H S Rogers,
Cllr
K B Tanner,
Cllr
Mrs M Tatton
and
Cllr C J Williams
Councillors Mrs J A Anderson, Mrs P A Bates, Mrs S Bell, R P Betts,
M D Boughton, V M C Branson, M A Coffin, N J Heslop, M A J Hood,
S A Hudson, D Lettington, Mrs A S Oakley, W E Palmer, M R Rhodes
and J L Sergison were also present pursuant to Council Procedure
Rule No 15.21.
An apology for absence was received from Councillor J L Botten
PART 1 - PUBLIC

FIP 20/19

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
In the interests of transparency Councillors T Bishop and M Davis
advised that they were the Council’s appointees to the Tonbridge and
Malling Leisure Trust to which reference was made in the report on
Discretionary Rate Relief.

FIP 20/20

MINUTES
RESOLVED: That the notes of the meeting of the Finance, Innovation
and Property Advisory Board held on 8 January 2020 be approved as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
MATTERS FOR RECOMMENDATION TO THE CABINET

FIP 20/21

APPLICATIONS FOR DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF
Decision Notice D200048MEM
The report of the Director of Finance and Transformation gave details of
renewal applications for discretionary rate relief for the period 1
April 2020 to 31 March 2022. Details of three new applications were
also set out. The Council’s policy in respect of discretionary rate relief
was attached at Annex 1 of the report.

1

Page 9

FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY
ADVISORY BOARD

22 July 2020

RECOMMENDED: That

FIP 20/22

(1)

discretionary rate relief be awarded for the period 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2022 in respect of the re-applications for relief as set
out at Annex 2 to the report;

(2)

the application for discretionary rate relief received from Tree of
Hope be refused;

(3)

the application for discretionary rate relief received from
Samaritan's Purse International Limited be refused; and

(4)

the application for discretionary rate relief received from
Refugease be refused.

FINANCIAL PLANNING CONTROL
Decision Notice D200049MEM
The report set out information on the three key budget areas of salaries,
major operational income streams and investment income. Performance
of the key budget areas, together with approved variations to the
revenue budget and areas identified through revenue budget monitoring,
were summarised to provide an indicative overall budget position for the
year.
Details of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Borough Council’s
finances to the end of June and projected for the year 2020/21; the scale
of the potential longer term impact on the Medium Term Financial
Strategy and Savings and Transformation Strategy and, in turn, savings
and transformation contributions required to balance the budget, were
also set out.
Finally, updates on capital expenditure and variations that had been
agreed in relation to the capital plan were provided.
RECOMMENDED: That

2

(1)

the likelihood that the Covid-19 pandemic would have a
significant adverse impact on the Council’s finances and reserve
balances and as a result, in turn, on the scale and timing of the
savings and transformation contributions required be noted;

(2)

the decision made by Cabinet to impose an ‘essential spend only’
policy for 2020/21 in order to preserve resources and to set a
‘savings target’ of £500,000 to be delivered as a result of this
policy be noted;

Page 10

FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY
ADVISORY BOARD

22 July 2020

(3)

the decision made by Cabinet that the general revenue reserve
balance should not fall below £2m at any point during the MTFS
10-year period and to retain a minimum of £3m by the end of the
period be noted;

(4)

the decision made by Cabinet in light of the difficult financial
landscape that lays ahead to set a savings target of £100,000 to
be delivered by April 2021 followed by a further £100,000 by April
2022 be noted;

(5)

the need to not only deliver any new targets, but to also deliver on
the ‘outstanding’ decisions made prior to the Covid-19 pandemic
and factored into the MTFS be noted;

(6)

the intention to bring a draft revision of the Savings and
Transformation Strategy to Cabinet in the Autumn be noted; and

(7)

the financial challenge was such that financial sustainability was
at increased risk be noted.

MATTERS SUBMITTED FOR INFORMATION
FIP 20/23

DIGITAL STRATEGY UPDATE
The report of the Director of Finance and Transformation reminded
Members that the ‘Digital Strategy 2019-23’ was developed with a
customer centric focus around the residents and businesses within the
Borough, aligned to the Council’s Corporate Strategy and based on
improving the overall quality of life for residents allowing proactive and
seamless engagement through the digital platform.
Following
completion of the first year of the four year strategy the report provided
an update on progress made to date.

FIP 20/24

BUSINESS CONTINUITY INCIDENT - IT DISASTER RECOVERY
The report provided a record of the issues arising from the power outage
on 5/6 April 2020 in respect of which a compensation claim against UK
Power Networks had been lodged. In addition, the report provided a
short summary of the issues arising from the failure of the air
conditioning in the server room on 16 June 2020.

FIP 20/25

REVENUE AND BENEFITS UPDATE
The report provided details of recent developments in respect of council
tax, business rates, council tax reduction and housing benefits.

3

Page 11

FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY
ADVISORY BOARD

FIP 20/26

22 July 2020

BUSINESS GRANTS SCHEME
The report provided details of the Government schemes providing
assistance to businesses and charities affected by the COVID-19
lockdown measures.

FIP 20/27

PUBLICATION OF ALLOWANCES PAID TO MEMBERS FOR
FINANCIAL YEAR 2019-20
The report of the Director of Finance and Transformation provided
details of the Statement of Allowances paid in the financial year 2019/20
which had been published in accordance with regulation 15 (3) of the
Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.
MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PRIVATE

FIP 20/28

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
The Chairman moved, it was seconded and
RESOLVED:
That as public discussion would disclose exempt
information, the following matters be considered in private.
PART 2 - PRIVATE
MATTERS FOR RECOMMENDATION TO THE CABINET

FIP 20/29

DEBTS FOR WRITE OFF
(LGA 1972 Sch 12A Paragraph 2 – Information which is likely to
reveal the identity of an individual)
Decision Notice D200050MEM
The report of the Director of Finance and Transformation sought
approval for the writing-off of debts considered to be irrecoverable.
RECOMMENDED: That the 4 items shown in the schedule of amounts
over £5,000, totalling £29,174.94, as set out in the report, be written off
for the reason stated within the schedule.

4

Page 12

FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY
ADVISORY BOARD

FIP 20/30

22 July 2020

PROPOSED NEW LEASE TO TONBRIDGE 1ST SCOUTS
(LGA 1972 Sch 12A Paragraph 3 – Financial or business affairs of
any particular person)
Decision Notice D200051MEM
The report detailed a request received from Tonbridge 1st Scouts for a
new lease of their scouting building at Lamberts Yard, Tonbridge.
RECOMMENDED: That the proposed new lease to Tonbridge 1st
Scouts, as detailed within the report, be agreed.

FIP 20/31

PROPOSED DISPOSAL OF CAR PARK AT EAST PECKHAM
(LGA 1972 Sch 12A Paragraph 3 – Financial or business affairs of
any particular person)
Decision Notice D200052MEM
The report detailed a request received from East Peckham Methodist
Church to purchase the car park and associated land to allow for the
redevelopment of a new Church and Community Hall, including public
car parking.
RECOMMENDED: That, subject to clarification of the legal cost to the
Borough Council, the proposed disposal to the Methodist Church, as
detailed in the report, be agreed.

FIP 20/32

PROPOSED DISPOSAL OF LAND AT REAR OF NEW HYTHE
LANE
(LGA 1972 Sch 12A Paragraph 3 – Financial or business affairs of
any particular person)
Decision Notice D200053MEM
The report provided details of a request by three home owners to be
allowed to purchase an area of land owned by the Borough Council to
create an access to their rear gardens for the sole purpose of off road
parking.
RECOMMENDED: That the proposed disposal of the area of land, as
set out in the report, be agreed

5

Page 13

FINANCE, INNOVATION AND PROPERTY
ADVISORY BOARD

FIP 20/33

22 July 2020

REQUEST FOR RENTAL REDUCTION - TWISDEN ROAD, EAST
MALLING
(LGA 1972 Sch 12A Paragraph 3 – Financial or business affairs of
any particular person)
Decision Notice D200054MEM
The report set out details of a request for a rental reduction in respect of
a retail unit.
RECOMMENDED: That no rent reduction be offered to the tenant.

The meeting ended at 10.07 pm

6

Page 14

Agenda Item 4
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Joint Report of the Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services and the
Director of Central Services and Deputy Chief Executive
Part 1- Public
Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Council Decision
1

LEYBOURNE LAKES COUNTRY PARK – FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS
Summary
A report seeking fast track approval to Cabinet and subsequently Full
Council to include a project to build a purpose built lakeside facility at
Leybourne Lakes Country Park in List A of the Council’s Capital Plan.

1.1

Leybourne Lakes Country Park

1.1.1

The Council owns and manages Leybourne Lakes Country Park (LLCP) to
provide outdoor formal and informal leisure activities to residents in the north of
the Borough, and visitors to the area.

1.1.2

It has been a long held aspiration of the Council to provide a purpose built
lakeside facility at the site to provide year round catering and a centre for water
sports. This is in response to identified customer needs and to generate
additional income from the Park.

1.1.3

In the 1st Year Addendum to the Council’s Corporate Strategy it was agreed to
“Ensure the financial sustainability of the Leisure Trust” and “Give consideration to
the potential transfer of the management of Leybourne Lakes Country Park to the
Leisure Trust”.

1.1.4

A report will be presented to the next meeting of the Communities & Housing
Advisory Board on the potential transfer of the management of LLCP to the
Leisure Trust, which it is hoped to be achieved by 1st April 2021. A key part of the
future financial viability of the management transfer will be the development of a
lakeside facility to be operated by the Trust. It is therefore essential to progress
the capital project as soon as possible to start to generate an income stream from
the new facility.

1.2

Lakeside Facility

1.2.1

Attached at Annex 1 to this report is a Fast Track List C Capital Plan Evaluation
for Facility Improvements at LLCP. The evaluation provides a description of the

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

Page 15

16 September 2020

2

project and considers issues such as design, risks, consultation and
capital/revenue funding implications.
1.2.2

The evaluation recommends a fast track transfer from List C to List A of the
Capital Plan to enable work to commence on the design and procurement of the
project. The project will be subject to regular reports to Members of the
Communities & Housing Advisory Board.

1.3

Procurement

1.3.1

Denbighshire County Council has procured a Framework under EU Regulations
which is open to all UK local authorities for the UK Leisure market. It covers
scoping, design and construction of Leisure projects. The approach allows
potential projects to be explored with progress only made should affordability be
acceptable.

1.3.2

It is intended to use this Framework subject to further investigation.

1.4

Legal Implications

1.4.1

The procurement of the project will be undertaken in full compliance with the
Council’s Contracts Procedural Rules and Financial Regulations.

1.5

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.5.1

As detailed in Annex 1 to the report the construction of the new facility will be
funded in full from developer contributions. No additional external funding will be
available and the budget will therefore be a key factor in the scale and design of
the new building. Revenue costs and income generation will be included within
future reports to this Board, based on the final design, the operating model and
liaison with the Leisure Trust.

1.6

Risk Assessment

1.6.1

As detailed in Annex 1 to the report. The project will need to be delivered within
the budget available which may limit the extent of the facility provided. The design
may need to allow for future phases to be added if further external funding
becomes available.

1.7

Equality Impact Assessment

1.7.1

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

1.8

Policy Considerations

1.8.1

Asset Management

1.8.2

Business Continuity/Resilience

Page 16

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

3

1.8.3

Climate Change

1.8.4

Community

1.8.5

Healthy Lifestyles

1.8.6

Procurement

1.9

Recommendations

1.9.1

It is RECOMMENDED to Cabinet and Council that:-

i)

the project to develop a lakeside purpose built facility at Leybourne Lakes
Country Park be transferred from List C to List A of the Council’s Capital Plan;

ii)

a report on the design , procurement and timescale of the project be reported
to a future meeting of the Communities & Housing Advisory Board;

iii)

a further report be brought to the Communities and Housing Advisory Board on
the potential transfer of the Management of Leybourne Lakes County Park to
the Leisure Trust including any new facility; and

iv)

The Denbighshire County Council UK Leisure Framework be utilised to
progress the Project subject to further investigation.

Background papers:

contact: Darren Lanes

Nil
Robert Styles
Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services
Adrian Stansfield
Director of Central Services and Deputy Chief Executive

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

Page 17

16 September 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

ANNEX 1
CAPITAL PLAN LIST C – EVALUATIONS

Page 19

Project
Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services: Leybourne Lakes Country Park – Facility Improvements
Specification:
1
Purpose of the
(i)
To build a purpose built lakeside facility to provide year round catering, educational/flexible space and a
scheme
centre for watersports. The facility would meet an identified customer need and would be income
generating. The project will help support the long term sustainability of the Leisure Trust.
Relevance to
(ii)
(a)
National: None
National / Council’s (b)
Council: Savings and Transformation
Objectives
Income Generation
Asset Management
(iii) Targets for judging
(a)
Saving in cost of facility
success
(b)
Improvement to existing service
(c)
User feedback
(d)
Project delivered within budget
2
Description of Project / Design Issues: At the present time the site offers a limited mobile catering service in the summer months and
the watersports are operated out of old shipping containers. Toilet provision is located in the car park away from the areas of most
public use. The project would provide a purpose built facility to provide the quality of facility to meet customer expectations and to offer a
year round service. Usage of the site continues to grow year on year and the opportunity exists to meet customer demand and generate
additional income. The project will be designed in liaison with external architects and will need to be sympathetic to the location, meet
requirements for planning and be in accordance with the Council’s Climate change strategy. The operation of the new facility will be
managed by the Leisure Trust which will be fully involved in the design to ensure future operational considerations are taken into
account. The management of the project will involve a cross service project management group with draft design proposals reported to
Members of the Communities and Housing Advisory Board.
3

4

1

Milestones / Risks: A detailed project plan will outline key milestones relating to issues such as design, planning approval,
procurement, construction and timescales. Each stage of the project plan represents its own risks together with the need to complete
the construction within budget and the agreed timescale.
Consultation: Early discussions will take place with Planning Services and Building Control. The provision of the facility was identified
as the most requested improvement to the site in the last customer survey, and is supported by the customer panel. Local Members and
Parish Councils have expressed their support for such a project in the past and will be consulted further over the design. Cabinet has
recognized the project in the first year Addendum to the Council’s Corporate Strategy. The Council’s Management Team are supportive
of the project.

CAPITAL PLAN LIST C – EVALUATIONS
5

6

Capital Cost:
 The capital cost of the project will need to be within the developer contributions currently held by the Council specifically for on
site improvements at the Country Park which is £741,000.
Profiling of Expenditure
2019/20 (£’000)

7
8

9

2021/22 (£’000)
2022/23 (£’000)
2023/24 (£’000)
2024/25 (£’000)
741
Capital Renewals Impact: Capital renewals will reflect the nature of the financial agreement reached with the Leisure Trust.
Revenue Impact: The developer contributions that will be allocated to the project generate investment income (£6,550 in the 2020/21
estimates) that is used to contribute towards day to day maintenance costs associated with the Country Park. This and other revenue
impacts will be reflected in the financial agreement reached with the Leisure Trust and aims to deliver a saving to the Council.
Partnership Funding: None.

Page 20

10

Project Monitoring / Post Implementation Review: Project will be monitored by project management group and will be subject to a
post implementation review 12 months after completion.

11

Screening for equality impacts:
Question
a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper
have potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against
different groups in the community?
b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper
make a positive contribution to promoting equality?
c. What steps are you taking to mitigate, reduce, avoid or minimise the
impacts identified above?
Recommendation: Transfer from List C to List A.

12

2

2020/21 (£’000)

Answer
n/a
n/a
n/a

Explanation of impacts

Agenda Item 5
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Report of the Director of Finance and Transformation
Part 1- Public
Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Council Decision

1

IT STRATEGY UPDATE AND ENTERPRISE DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM

An update on progress towards delivering the IT Strategy which was
adopted in June 2018. Members are requested to note the progress made,
and are asked to identify/suggest any relevant technology training that
would assist Members in discharging their roles. In addition, Members are
asked to consider a capital plan evaluation for an enterprise document
management system and recommend to Full Council that this be transferred
to List A and funded from the Invest to Save Reserve.
1.1

Introduction

1.1.1

At the last meeting of this Advisory Board in July, I updated Members with regard
to a number of digital project and initiatives that are underway. The work on
digital projects continues and I will update Members again in January with regard
to progress.

1.1.2

For this meeting, I want to update on some aspects set out in our overarching IT
Strategy which was approved in June 2018.

1.1.3

As a reminder, the strategic objective areas were agreed as:


Customers – improved use of the website by customers. Greater use of
“end-to-end” digital services in order to deliver efficiencies in back office
processes.



Staff – ensure officers are provided with up to date and efficient tools and
systems for the tasks they are performing. Officers will also be involved in
all areas of the projects delivered under the strategy and provided with any
support and training that is necessary.



Members – provide regular technology training sessions for members so
they are fully briefed on the latest developments.

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

Page 21

16 September 2020

2



Partners – continue to participate on shared projects with other
organisations where there is mutual benefit.



IT Infrastructure – challenge our current use of legacy business systems
and evaluate cloud hosted alternatives.



Information Security – ensure that risks around information security are
managed effectively and is understood at both Member and Management
Team level.



Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery – make sure that changes
which arise from projects in the strategy are fully reflected in our Business
Continuity and Disaster Recovery plans.

1.2

Progress

1.2.1

In terms of Customers, I have reported on progress in respect of the replacement
website. At the time of writing, the implementation work has commenced and the
completion of the technical cloud infrastructure is expected to be ready for
software installation by Northgate and JADU on the 10th September 2020. One of
the key priorities we have is to ensure the new website facilitates the digital end to
end processes which provides not only a better experience for customers but also
delivers efficiencies. Members may be aware from earlier reports that the new
website provider is Northgate, in partnership with JADU. Northgate is also the
provider of our current Revenue & Benefits system and the Citizen Access online
customer interface. The new website, through its fully integrated JADU CMS
platform, will enable our residents to access the relevant services through ‘Single
Sign-On’, starting with Council Tax and Housing benefits services. Further
updates will be provided as work progresses.

1.2.2

Aligned to this we have also been trialling the concept of a centralised call centre.
Initially the call centre has dealt primarily with revenues and benefits, housing and
community hub queries. During the pandemic, this concept proved to be
invaluable in supporting our Services and customers, through the economy of
scale in terms resources consisting of multi-skilled call centre agents, who were
able assist customers with queries relating to our varying disciplines of services.
Management Team are in the process of considering whether this should be
widened based on the positive experience to date.

1.2.3

Regarding Staff, Members are already aware through the COVID “experience”,
that staff have been provided with efficient tools to undertake their roles.
Naturally, keeping the equipment and systems up to date will be a challenge as
technological changes occur, but this is managed carefully.

1.2.4

Although at an early stage, Management Team has agreed that a feasibility study
should be commenced in terms of the potential to create a centralised “Digital
Post-room”. This would cover the issues of opening, scanning and indexing
incoming mail and dealing with external correspondence. Whilst the feasibility

Page 22

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

3

needs to be properly explored, the expectation is that this would help to achieve
efficiencies across the Council. This concept will be considered by the in-house
digital group at its next meeting in October. This will also help sustain the
COVID19 health & safety requirements in terms of our staff travelling to and from
the offices to collect and deal with posts.
1.2.5

Alongside this is a long held aspiration to adopt an Enterprise Document
Management System for the whole Council. Members are referred to paragraph
1.3 for recommendations in this respect.

1.2.6

Members have received regular updates on progress with our digital strategy, and
have been invited to undertake cyber security training. Generally, I think it is fair
to say that the majority of Members have adapted well and embraced the virtual
environment that has been thrust upon us via the COVID pandemic. I do
appreciate that there are still challenges that we need to address. If Members
have suggestions of technological training sessions that would be helpful, I will be
happy to consider these.

1.2.7

The Council continues to work with other Partners in developing and obtaining
best value for technological solutions. Kent Connects based at Kent County
Council is as key partner, and we also subscribe to Smarter Digital Services
based within Tunbridge Wells Borough Council. Members are aware that we are
working with all Kent councils and public sector partners on the Smart Kent &
Medway project leading on the ‘Smart city’ agenda for Kent.

1.2.8

We continue to challenge our current use of legacy business systems and
evaluate and implement cloud hosted alternatives within our IT Infrastructure.
Given our Digital Strategy and the business demand for online services, making
our IT infrastructure highly available (i.e. 24/7) has become a fundamental
requirement. Hence, we are currently in the process of reviewing our line of
business systems for ‘Cloud’ readiness. We have already migrated our Parking
permit system and our Backup and Disaster Recovery systems to Cloud.

1.2.9

Information Security is clearly a fundamental priority. We have a duty to ensure
that all IT systems, software and services are appropriately configured to reduce
the level of inherent vulnerability. The Council commissions health checks on a
regular basis to test compliance. Members will understand that this is an ever
changing situation. New vulnerabilities arise every day given the fast pace of
change in IT. One of the key tasks of the Technical Support team is to keep on
top of vulnerabilities, mitigating them wherever possible. Member should
however be aware that there will never be the perfect situation whereby there are
no vulnerabilities in existence and we can never be complacent. Thus far along
with KPSN, we have been proactive in our infrastructure and data.

1.2.10 A health check by Surecloud took place in early August and I am pleased to report
that the feedback was generally good. “Overall the security posture of the
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council's external network was found to be good

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

Page 23

16 September 2020

4

with most of the issues raised in previous tests having been resolved. There was
one high severity issue discovered which exposed a couple of sensitive ports to
the public internet, however, most other finds were medium to low in
severity…………. Generally, the network was found to be very well configured,
and factors such as the strong password policy and patch management made
exploiting the network very hard”
1.2.11 Members may be aware that any organisation taking receipts digitally must
comply with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), which
sets out a series of requirements to protect both customers and the organisation
when taking payments. IT services are currently in the process of resolving the
last vulnerability identified within the IT heath check impacting the PCI-DSS
compliance. We are hoping to have PCI-DSS certification test completed by
October 2020.
1.2.12 Members will be aware that our Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery
plans have been tested sine COVID due to unplanned power outages and also
breakdowns in air conditioning units. Members are referred to a report to the July
meeting of this Advisory Board. Due to the business continuity impact of these
events, Management Team has asked Internal Audit staff to review the incidents
to allow a better understanding of our resilience and to provide a level of
assurance.
1.3

Enterprise Document Management System

1.3.1

The Council presently has 80 licences for the document management solution
(DMS) Information@work used by primarily Revenues & Benefits, Customer
Services and some teams in Housing.

1.3.2

Some Members may recall that it has been a long held aspiration to adopt an
Enterprise DMS solution for the whole Council. To date, for a variety of reasons
this has not moved forward but following discussion with Management Team and
the supplier, it has been agreed that adoption of the existing DMS will achieve the
holistic solution we have aspired to.

1.3.3

The advantage of this approach is that the infrastructure and knowledge is already
in place and therefore the additional costs relate only to the purchase of additional
licences. The provision of a Council-wide DMS will open opportunities for
efficiencies in management of digital records and in the reduction in paper
records, as well as enable the Council to comply with GDPR guidelines on
electronic document storage, access and retention periods. In turn this initiative
will improve the online service experience for our residents and businesses.

1.3.4

A corporate DMS will be the critical foundation for many digital initiatives and will
facilitate the delivery of efficiency savings through associated projects. The cost of
an additional 120 licences is £17,000 (capital cost) and there will be annual
support and maintenance costs of £6,000 per annum. The capital cost can be
met from the Invest to Save Reserve.

Page 24

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

5

1.3.5

A List C capital Plan evaluation is attached at [Annex 1] for Members’
consideration and recommendation to Council via Cabinet. This is a cost
effective solution which will be the foundation for future digital projects and will
enable the Council to meet its GDPR responsibilities. The sooner this can be put
in place, the sooner other projects can be escalated to achieve efficiencies.

1.3.6

Members are asked to recommend to Council via Cabinet that the project be
transferred to List A to be funded from the Invest to Save Reserve.

1.4

Legal Implications

1.4.1

Procurement policy should be followed for all projects arising from the IT Strategy.

1.4.2

The IT Strategy takes into account the requirements of the General Data
Protection Regulation implemented on 25/05/2018.

1.5

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.5.1

A revenue budget and capital renewals programme for IT is approved annually by
Members. Funding for new capital projects is a decision for Members and
requests are brought forward as appropriate.

1.6

Risk Assessment

1.6.1

Corporate strategies, goals and priorities need to align and support each other.
The IT Strategy will support the activities and goals set by the Council. Without a
clearly defined strategy we may not be able to prioritise our resources correctly,
leading to missed opportunities to improve service delivery and reduce costs.

1.6.2

Reliance on digital services can also bring risks. If services are down for
prolonged periods, productivity of staff is compromised as are services to the
public. Disaster Recovery measures are therefore imperative.

1.6.3

As the reliance on IT systems becomes even greater, opportunities are being
explored to mitigate risks further – for example by assessing greater use of cloud
services in line with the IT and Digital Strategy. Consideration will also be given to
the resource base within IT Services to ensure that there is adequate resilience
and if appropriate proposals will be brought to the General Purposes Committee.

1.7

Equality Impact Assessment

1.7.1

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

1.8

Policy Considerations

1.8.1

Business Continuity/Resilience

1.8.2

Customer Contact

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

Page 25

16 September 2020

6

1.8.3

Communications

1.8.4

Community

1.8.5

Procurement

1.9

Recommendations

1.9.1

The Advisory Board is REQUESTED to:
1)

NOTE the progress in respect of the IT strategy; and

2)

IDENTIFY any technology training that might be helpful for elected
Members;

and in addition, the Advisory Board is REQUESTED to:
3)

RECOMMEND to Full Council that the List C project “Enterprise Document
Management Solution” be transferred to List A to be funded from the
Invest to Save Reserve.

Background papers:

contact: Sharon Shelton
Ganesh Thangarajah

Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance & Transformation

Page 26

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-C-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

ANNEX 1
CAPITAL PLAN LIST C – EVALUATIONS

Page 27

Project Enterprise Document Management Solution
1
Specification:
(i)
Purpose of the
The Council presently has 80 licences for the document management solution Information@work used
scheme
primarily by Revenues & Benefits, Customer Services and some teams in Housing. Purpose of the
project is to purchase 120 additional licences to adopt this as the enterprise solution for the whole
Council. The provision of a Council-wide DMS will open opportunities for efficiencies in management of
digital records and in the reduction in paper records, as well as enabling the Council to comply with GDPR
guidelines on electronic document storage, access and retention periods.
(ii)
Relevance to
(a)
National:
GDPR
National / Council’s
(b)
Council:
Delivery of Digital strategy and Climate Change objectives through reduced use of
Objectives
paper records. Reduction in physical storage needs freeing up office
accommodation for more efficient usage. Improvement in operational efficiency and
customer experience of online services
(iii) Targets for judging
(a)
Facilitation of further digital projects reducing reliance on paper records
success
(b)
Facilitation of physical storage capacity
2
Description of Project / Design Issues:
The Council already operates Information@work within some areas of the Council’s Services as set out above. The ‘infrastructure’ and
knowledge is therefore already in place and to expand it to the enterprise solution simply requires the purchase of additional licences.
The DMS provides a comprehensive repository that can be used to manage scanned images, electronic documents, emails and other
content.
Having a corporate DMS is the foundation for many digital initiatives and will facilitate the delivery of efficiency savings through
associated projects.
Purchase of the additional licences to make this an ‘enterprise’ solution also brings additional benefits (for no additional cost). Workflow
automation through the ‘Generic Import Module’ which imports documents submitted/produced by third party applications/customers into
I@W will produce operational efficiencies, removing the need for manual intervention.
Staff in Services not already using I@W will need to be trained appropriately.
3
4

5

1

Milestones / Risks
To be completed by end of 2020/21
Consultation:
MT have considered this proposal and support the purchase. The in-house digital group will be considering how this is taken forward at
its next meeting.
Capital Cost:
£17,000 for cost of 120 additional licences. This can be funded from the Invest to Save Reserve

ANNEX 1
CAPITAL PLAN LIST C – EVALUATIONS
6

7
8
9
10
11

Page 28
12

2

Profiling of Expenditure
2020/21 (£’000)
2021/22 (£’000)
2022/23 (£’000)
2023/24 (£’000)
2024/25 (£’000)
17
Capital Renewals Impact:
N/A
Revenue Impact:
£6k pa support and maintenance
Partnership Funding:
N/A
Project Monitoring / Post Implementation Review:
Head of IT/Director of Finance & Transformation in liaison with internal digital group
Screening for equality impacts:
Question
Answer
Explanation of impacts
a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper
have potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against
N/A
different groups in the community?
b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper
N/A
make a positive contribution to promoting equality?
c. What steps are you taking to mitigate, reduce, avoid or
minimise
N/A
the impacts identified above?
Recommendation:
Transfer from List C to List A and fund from Invest to Save Reserve

2025/26 (£’000)

Agenda Item 6
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Report of the Director of Finance and Transformation
Part 1- Public
Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Non-Key Decision (Decision may be taken
by the Cabinet Member)
1

FINANCIAL PLANNING AND CONTROL
The report brings together information on three key budget areas – salaries,
major operational income streams and investment income. The
performance of the key budget areas, together with approved variations to
the revenue budget and areas identified through revenue budget monitoring
are then summarised to provide an indicative overall budget position for the
year.
The report includes details of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the
Council’s finances and the scale of the potential longer term impact on the
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Savings and Transformation Strategy
and, in turn, savings and transformation contributions required to balance
the budget.
The report also updates Members on capital expenditure and variations that
have been agreed in relation to the capital plan.

1.1

Salaries Monitoring Statement

1.1.1

Appended for information at [Annex 1] is a budgetary control statement that
compares actual expenditure on basic salaries, temporary staff, overtime,
superannuation and national insurance to the end of August 2020, with the
appropriate proportion of the original estimate for 2020/21.

1.1.2

Members will note that management savings to the end of August are £41,550
more than anticipated.

1.2

Income Monitoring Statement

1.2.1

Appended for information at [Annex 2] is a budgetary control statement that
compares actual income from fees and charges to the end of August 2020, with
the appropriate proportion of the original estimate for 2020/21.

1.2.2

Members will note that overall income to the end of August is £973,100 less than
anticipated largely due to the Covid-19 pandemic and measures taken in
response.

Page 29

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

2

1.3

Treasury Management
Core Funds

1.3.1

The Council achieved a return of 0.66% on its core fund investments for the
period ended August 2020 (0.78% to end of June 2020), compared to the 3-month
LIBID benchmark of 0.19%. Investment income achieved for the period ended
August 2020 is £44,600.

1.3.2

At the end of August 2020 the value of core funds stood at £18m. This was
invested at an average rate of 0.47% and an average maturity of 186 days.
Cash Flow Funds

1.3.3

The Council achieved a return of 0.23% on its cash flow investments for the
period ended August 2020 (0.29% to end of June 2020), compared to a 7-day
LIBID benchmark of -0.05%. Investment income achieved for the period ended
August 2020 is £28,000.

1.3.4

At the end of August 2020 the value of cash flow investments stood at £22.2m.
This was invested at an average rate of 0.11% and an average maturity of 8 days.
Property Investment Funds

1.3.5

Property funds pay dividends quarterly based on activity to the end of March,
June, September and December. Investment income achieved for the period
ended June 2020 is £35,400 which represents a return of £2.83%.

1.3.6

At the end of August 2020 the sum of £5m was invested in property investment
funds spread across three different funds.
All Investments

1.3.7

The combined return figure for core, cash flow and property investment funds is
compared with the original estimate for 2020/21 later in this report.

1.4

Approved Variations to the Revenue Budget

1.4.1

Listed below are the variations that have been agreed to the revenue budget. It
has been based upon those variations approved by Portfolio Holders,
Committees, Cabinet and Council up to end of August 2020.

1.4.2

The Leader of the Council in liaison with Chairman of Overview & Scrutiny
Committee agreed to advance the sum of £300,000 to the Tonbridge and Malling
Leisure Trust (TMLT) under emergency powers. This is not a grant payment, but
an advance to assist with cash flow.

Page 30

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

3

1.4.3

Planning and Transportation Advisory Board 3 March 2020


1.4.4

1.4.5

Cabinet 3 June 2020


Resolved that the recommendations of the Street Scene and Environment
Services Advisory Board of 5 March 2020 in respect of car parking fees
and charges and of the Joint Transportation Board on 9 March 2020 in
respect of on-street parking fees and charges be deferred until the next
annual review of charges in Autumn 2020. As a result, all other things
being equal, income in 2020/21 will be £280,000 less than budgeted
(£85,000 of which is reflected in the income monitoring statement above).



Agreed ‘in principle’ to provide support to the TMLT as a result of the
Government’s directions in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

General Purposes Committee 17 June 2020


1.4.6

Agreed to establish the post of Digital Content Editor at a cost of £45,150.
The cost offset in part by a reduction in the number of licences required in
respect of the Council’s social media management platform saving £6,000.

Cabinet 30 June 2020


1.4.7

Recommended and subsequently approved by Cabinet on 30 June 2020
that the provision of hard copies of entire planning application submissions
to parish councils cease from 1 September 2020. Estimated annual cost
saving £7,500.

Recommended to full Council that a supplementary budget of £1m is
established in 2020/21 in respect of the Council’s Leisure Management
Arrangements. Subsequently approved by Council on 14 July 2020.

A summary of the approved variations to the revenue budget is given in the table
below.

Description

Paragraph
Reference

2020/21
£

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

Advance to TMLT

1.4.2

-

-

-

Planning Application Documents

1.4.3

(4,400)

Car Parking Charges

1.4.4

195,000

Digital Content Editor

1.4.5

26,300

Social Media Software Licences

1.4.5

-

Leisure Management Arrangements

1.4.6

1,000,000

Total

1,216,900

Page 31

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

(7,500)
-

(7,500) *
-

45,150

45,150 *

(6,000)

(6,000) *

31,650

31,650

16 September 2020

4

Those items marked with an asterisk* will need to be considered and reflected as
appropriate in updating the Medium Term Financial Strategy beyond 2022/23.
1.5

Virements

1.5.1

There have been no virements made to the original revenue estimates for 2020/21
reported to Council on 18 February 2020.

1.6

Revenue Budget Monitoring

1.6.1

As part of our budget monitoring and control arrangements Chief Officers confirm
that budgetary control has been undertaken within the Service areas under their
control each month and at the same time highlight those areas, if any, which they
wish to bring to the attention of the Director of Finance and Transformation. In
addition, the Accountancy Section also monitors budgetary performance across
the whole range of services during the year. At the time of writing this report the
following areas have been brought to my attention / are for Members’ awareness.
Covid-19 Pandemic

1.6.2

The Council received from Government grant funding of £20,120,000 to
administer on its behalf both the Small Business Grant Fund and the Retail,
Hospitality and Leisure Sector Grant Fund schemes. At the time of writing of that
sum 96.2% or £19,355,000 has been paid out to 1,524 businesses. The closing
date for businesses to apply for grant aid was 28 August and any remaining
balance is to be repaid to BEIS.

1.6.3

A further sum of £1,006,000 was received to administer the Discretionary
Business Grant Fund scheme and has been paid out in full to 149 businesses.

1.6.4

The Council also received £866,829 in respect of the Council Tax Covid-19
Hardship Fund with the expectation that billing authorities will provide all recipients
of working age local council tax support in 2020/21 with a further reduction of
£150 or a lesser sum where that reduces the liability to £nil. At the time of writing
of that sum £723,852 has been applied to 4,826 council tax accounts.

1.6.5

The Government has committed to meet the cost of administering the business
grant fund schemes and council tax hardship fund referred to above under the
New Burdens Grant regime. To date a sum of £130,000 has been received in
respect of the business grant fund schemes with a further sum due for carrying
out post assurance work. A payment has yet to be received in respect of the
council tax hardship fund.

1.6.6

The Council has been allocated up to £117,531 from the Reopening High Streets
Safely Fund for eligible expenditure incurred to support the safe reopening of high
streets and other commercial areas. A bid in the sum of £112,125 was submitted
and await confirmation it has been accepted.

Page 32

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

5

1.6.7

As reported to Cabinet on 30 June 2020, it is safe to say that the pandemic will
have a significant adverse impact on the Council’s finances. Primarily as a result
of a marked reduction in sources of income (council tax receipts, business rates,
fees and charges, rental income and investment income), but there are also
unbudgeted costs to be met, e.g. setting up and operation of community hub
facilities and increase in temporary accommodation costs.

1.6.8

Reduction in sources of income in 2020/21 estimated to be £4m (of which
£1,236,700 is reported elsewhere in this report) followed by £2m in 2021/22 and
£1m in 2022/23.

1.6.9

Unbudgeted costs in 2020/21 estimated to be £350,000 (spend to July 2020
£259,500) followed by £150,000 in 2021/22.

1.6.10 As mentioned at paragraph 1.4.6, a supplementary budget of £1m is to be
established in 2020/21 in respect of the Council’s Leisure Management
Arrangements. For financial planning purposes it is assumed support will
continue to be required to the sum of £700,000 in 2021/22.
1.6.11 Management Team and endorsed by Cabinet imposed an ‘Essential Spend Only’
policy for the year 2020/21 and set a one-off savings target of £500,000 to be
delivered as a result of the policy. On the assumption the potential savings
agreed with Services to date realise the anticipated saving a sum of £352,600 has
been identified leaving more work to do if the one-off savings target is to be met.
1.6.12 To date three tranches of direct ‘emergency’ funding has been provided by the
Government. The first tranche was £40,538, the second tranche £1,316,352 and
the third tranche £192,874 giving a total allocation of £1,549,764.
1.6.13 The latest funding package included a scheme to reimburse councils for lost
income from sales fees and charges; and in the next Spending Review to consider
what support councils need to help them meet the pressures of income loss from
council tax and business rates. From reading the draft guidance for now a sum of
£1,000,000 has been assumed in respect of the income compensation scheme for
sales, fees and charges.
1.6.14 In spite of the increased government grant funding unless further funding is
forthcoming, not only this year, but until income is more akin to pre Covid-19
levels a significant adverse financial impact will remain. Furthermore, despite
suggestions that discussions were being had on financial support with regard to
council owned leisure facilities run by charitable Trusts, no such announcement
has been made.
Other Issues
1.6.15 Homeless caseload has continued to increase since the budget was prepared in
Autumn 2019 and remains at a high level. The estimated net increased cost in
respect of temporary accommodation in 2020/21 is £300,000. For financial

Page 33

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

6

planning purposes it is assumed temporary accommodation costs gradually
reduce over a three-year period to a level thereafter akin to the 2020/21 original
budget.
1.6.16 The inflationary increase from 1 April 2020 in respect of the waste services
contract was 0.8% less than estimated equating to a saving on the annual
contract sum of £30,000.
1.6.17 A review by the waste services contractor of the amounts being billed found that
the number of properties used in the calculation had been understated, together
with a number of other adjustments required to be made to the amount billed. The
ongoing annual increased cost of these changes is £62,000 plus a one-off cost of
£35,000 for the period up to 31 March 2020.
1.6.18 Additional crews were employed by the waste services contractor for four weeks
on the resumption of the garden waste collection service. The additional cost of
£17,300 was met by Kent County Council.
1.6.19 The anticipated exemption from business rates for all standalone public toilets,
announced in the Chancellor's Autumn Budget 2018, has yet to be implemented.
As a result the Council has had to pay business rates of £18,900.
1.6.20 The Council has been awarded £8,100 from the “Old Chalk New Downs” project
to carry out woodland work at Holly Hill Wood.
1.6.21 A review has taken place of the works required to Council owned bridges over the
next three years following the high priority works carried out in 2019. The
estimated cost of the works over the three years 2020/21 to 2022/23 is £24,500,
£5,500 and £10,000 more than the current budget.
1.6.22 The Council Tax Support administration grant awarded by the MHCLG for
2020/21 is £9,400 more than budgeted.
1.6.23 Kent County Council are to pay, subject to confirmation, in the order of £156,000
in recognition of the increased council tax yield as a result of changes made to
council tax discounts and exemptions.
1.6.24 Summons costs recovered currently expected to be £125,000 below budget due
to the suspension of court hearings.
1.6.25 Management Team have made the following establishment changes under
delegated authority:


The temporary management arrangements in Housing Services have been
extended by a further six months to the end of September 2020 at a cost of
£37,000. To be funded from government grants received in prior years and
set aside in an earmarked reserve.

Page 34

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

7



The hours of the Health and Safety Officer were temporarily increased by
14.5 hours per week for a period of four weeks at a cost of £2,900. To be
funded from management savings.



The hours of the Private Sector Housing Initiatives Officer and Housing
Support Assistant have been temporarily increased by 8 hours per week
and 18.5 hours per week respectively for a period of seven weeks at a cost
of £3,100 (all of which is reflected in the salary monitoring statement
above). To be funded from the Energy Strategy Support Grant (see
paragraph 1.6.26 below).



Maternity cover for two posts within Housing Services will cost £13,500. To
be funded from management savings.



The temporary additional resources in Waste and Street Scene Services,
required in the lead up to and mobilisation of the new waste services
contract, have been extended by a further six month period to the end of
September 2020 at a cost of £55,500. To be funded from ring-fenced sum
and management savings.



Temporary additional administration resources in Waste and Street Scene
Services continue to be employed at a cost of £14,600 for the period ended
August. To be funded from management savings.



The temporary administration arrangements in Parking Services have been
extended by a further nine month period to the end of December 2020 at a
cost of £6,000. To be funded from management savings.

1.6.26 The Council has been awarded the following grants from central government
which will be used to fund as yet unbudgeted expenditure or reductions in other
government funding streams:


Covid-19 Housing Benefits Policy Changes Grant £328



Discretionary Housing Payments Grant £87,941 (in addition to £180,000
budget)



Energy Strategy Support Grant £100,000



Local Authority Data Sharing Programme Grant £6,015



Local Housing Allowance Changes Grant £488



Rough Sleeping Initiative £88,175



Severe Disability Premium Changes Grant £1,655



Universal Credit New Burdens Grant £13,701

Page 35

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

8



Verify Earnings and Pensions Alerts Grant £24,144



Welfare Reform Grant £31,470

1.6.27 A summary of the items identified through budgetary control is given in the table
below.
Description

Paragraph
Reference

2020/21
£

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

-

-

New Burdens Grant

1.6.5

(130,000)

Sources of Income

1.6.8

2,763,300

2,000,000

Covid-19 Expenditure

1.6.9

350,000

150,000

-

Leisure Management Arrangements

1.6.10

700,000

-

Essential Spend Only

1.6.11

(500,000)

-

-

Covid-19 Grant Allocation

1.6.12

(1,549,750)

-

-

Income Compensation Scheme

1.6.13

(1,000,000)

-

-

Temporary Accommodation

1.6.15

300,000

200,000

100,000

Waste Services Contract – Inflation

1.6.16

(30,000)

(30,000)

(30,000) *

Waste Services Contract – Billing

1.6.17

97,000

62,000

62,000 *

Garden Waste Collection

1.6.18

-

-

-

Public Conveniences Business Rates

1.6.19

18,900

-

-

Holly Hill Wood

1.6.20

-

-

-

Bridge Works

1.6.21

24,500

5,500

10,000 *

Council Tax Support Admin Grant

1.6.22

(9,400)

-

-

Council Tax Discounts / Exemptions

1.6.23

(156,000)

-

-

Summons Costs Recovered

1.6.24

125,000

-

-

Establishment Changes

1.6.25

(3,100)

-

-

Central Government Grants

1.6.26

-

-

Total

-

300,450

3,087,500

1,000,000

1,142,000

Those items marked with an asterisk* will need to be considered and reflected as
appropriate in updating the Medium Term Financial Strategy beyond 2022/23.

Page 36

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

9

1.7

Revenue Budget Summary

1.7.1

The table below brings together information on the key budget areas, the
variations agreed to the revenue budget and items identified through budgetary
control to provide an indicative overall budget position for the year.
Description

Budget to
August
£

Salaries Monitoring Statement
Income Monitoring Statement
Treasury Management
Approved Variations to the Revenue Budget

Actual to
August
£

Variance
£

4,362,550

4,321,000

(41,550)

(2,291,500)

(1,318,400)

973,100

(176,600)

(108,000)

68,600
1,216,900

Revenue Budgetary Control

300,450

Net Adverse Variance

2,517,500

1.7.2

This suggests a projected unplanned call on reserves, general revenue reserve
and one or more specific earmarked reserves, of circa £2.5m in 2020/21 followed
by circa £3.1m in 2021/22 and £1.2m in 2022/23.

1.8

Medium Term Financial Strategy

1.8.1

In the latter part of the year 2019/20 the pandemic commenced its profound
impact across service areas, businesses and the wider community; testing the
Council’s business continuity planning arrangements.

1.8.2

We will not know the full extent of the impact on the Council’s finances and
reserve balances for some time. Much will depend on the financial support
provided by central government, extent and speed of the recovery, whether there
is a second ‘spike’ leading to the reintroduction of some of the measures and
societal changes brought about by the response to the pandemic.

1.8.3

But as can be seen above the projected unplanned call on reserves over the next
three years is £6.8m. It should also be stressed beyond 2022/23 it is assumed
that sources of income will in large part return to pre Covid-19 levels. This in itself
could be seen as challenging bearing in mind, for example, behavioural changes
in response to the pandemic – more people work from home and more often and
subsequent implications for car park income.

1.8.4

It goes without saying that the Council’s finances and reserve balances are under
severe pressure. The latest projected funding gap is £755,000 (July £600,000)
split into three savings tranches, two of £100,000 to be achieved by April 2021
and April 2022 and tranche three £555,000 to be achieved by April 2024. This
reinforces and brings into stark focus the need for the initiatives already reflected
in the MTFS to deliver the saving (or a substitute of equivalent value or

Page 37

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

10

higher) and in the timescale assumed to both support the integrity of the MTFS
and for financial sustainability not to be placed at risk. Not forgetting having done
so a funding gap of £755,000 remains and a growing sense is getting out of
reach.
1.8.5

The potential savings agreed with Services to meet the ‘Essential Spend Only’
policy savings target have been used to identify those that are also ongoing and
as such contribute to the savings target of £100,000 to be achieved by April 2021.
The potential ongoing savings identified to date is £55,950 leaving more work to
do if the target is to be met.

1.9

Savings and Transformation Strategy

1.9.1

Alongside the Medium Term Financial Strategy sits a Savings and Transformation
Strategy. The purpose of the Strategy is to provide structure, focus and direction
in addressing the financial challenge faced by the Council. In so doing, it
recognises that there is no one simple solution and as a result we will need to
adopt a number of ways to deliver the required savings and transformation
contributions within an agreed timescale.

1.9.2

A number of key themes have been identified, together with outline targets and
timescales which will need to be revisited and aligned with the latest projected
funding gap.

1.9.3

As mentioned earlier not only will the Council need to deliver any new targets, but
it will also need to ensure it delivers on the ‘outstanding’ decisions it made prior to
the Covid-19 pandemic and factored into the MTFS.

1.9.4

Management Team will be considering this over the coming weeks with the
intention of bringing a draft revision of the Strategy to Cabinet in the Autumn.

1.10

Covid-19 Local Authority Financial Monitoring Return

1.10.1 Since April the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government has
asked local authorities to complete a monthly return designed to help departments
across central government understand the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on
local authority finances for planning purposes.
1.10.2 For the year 2020/21 an estimated reduction in sources of income of £3.9m and
increased costs of £1.7m were reflected in the most recent return submitted.
1.11

Capital Monitoring Statement

1.11.1 Appended for information at [Annex 3] is a capital monitoring statement which
compares actual capital expenditure for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 August 2020
with the 2020/21 Capital Plan. The Capital Plan for 2020/21 is based on the
2020/21 budgets that were approved by Council on 18 February 2020, amended
for slippage from 2019/20.

Page 38

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

11

1.11.2 Prior year’s expenditure is only shown for finite schemes for which there is a
budget in 2020/21. Where schemes are of a rolling programme nature, prior
year’s expenditure has not been shown in order to avoid large, generally
meaningless, totals building up.
1.11.3 Capital Plan schemes which are scheduled to start in 2021/22 and beyond have
not been shown. The budget profile for these schemes can be found in the
2020/21 Revenue and Capital Budgets Book.
1.11.4 Members will note a Capital Plan spend (net) at the end of August 2020 of
£902,000 against a budget for the year of £3.885m.
1.12

Approved Variations to the Capital Plan

1.12.1 Budget provision for Housing Disabled Facility Adaptations is based on the current
year approved provision of 1,161,000 (Council, February 2020) plus prior year
slippage of £137,000. This budget will be reviewed as part of the revised
estimates process.
1.13

Capital Plan Issues

1.13.1 The capital plan monitoring statement, as presented to this Board, is essentially
aimed at monitoring the financial performance of the capital plan overall and on a
Service and scheme basis. Notes have been provided to supply further
information where this is felt to be particularly relevant. Other monitoring reports,
which provide greater information about individual schemes, are presented by the
Services to the relevant Advisory Board.
1.14

Legal Implications

1.14.1 This report fulfils the requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 which places
a statutory duty on the authority to monitor income and expenditure against
budget and to take action if overspends or shortfalls in income emerge. If
monitoring establishes that the budget situation has deteriorated, authorities are
required to take such action as they consider necessary. This might include
action to reduce spending in the rest of the year, to increase income or to finance
all or part of the shortfall from reserves.
1.15

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.15.1 In the latter part of the year 2019/20 the Covid-19 pandemic commenced its
profound impact on service areas, businesses and the wider community testing
the Council’s business continuity planning arrangements. It will, in all likelihood,
also have a significant adverse impact on the Council’s finances and reserve
balances.
1.15.2 Primarily as a result of a marked reduction in sources of income (council tax
receipts, business rates, fees and charges, rental income and investment

Page 39

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

12

income). There are also unbudgeted costs to be met, both time limited and
ongoing, e.g. setting up and operation of community hub facilities and increase in
temporary accommodation costs; and the financial support to be provided to the
Tonbridge and Malling Leisure Trust.
1.15.3 We will not know the extent of the impact on the Council’s finances and reserve
balances for some time, but believe it safe to say unless there is further significant
tranches of funding provided by the government some significant decisions will
need to be made so as not to place financial sustainability at risk.
1.15.4 The future Spending Review, Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Reforms
brings further uncertainty in addition to the adverse impact of the Covid-19
pandemic. How TMBC will fair, together with the current economic conditions
have the potential to place further pressure on the Council’s finances.
1.16

Risk Assessment

1.16.1 Budgetary control is a prerequisite of good financial management, financial
planning and control and needs to be kept under review to ensure it remains
effective and relevant.
1.16.2 The Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out the high level financial objectives
the Council wishes to fulfil and underpins the budget setting process for the
forthcoming year and over the Strategy period. As the Council’s high level
financial planning tool the Strategy needs to be reviewed and updated at least
annually and in the current climate regularly reviewed by Management Team.
1.16.3 The Strategic risks ‘Financial position/budget deficit’ and ‘Corporate Strategy and
Savings and Transformation Strategy’ have been escalated to RED risk on the
Strategic Risk Register. The financial challenge such financial sustainability at
increased risk.
1.16.4 The outcome of the Spending Review, Fair Funding Review and Business Rates
Reforms have the potential to place further pressure on the Council’s finances.
1.16.5 The continuing uncertainty and volatility surrounding local government finances
does not aid financial planning with the increased risk of significant variations
compared to projections; and the consequent implications on the level of reserves
held.
1.17

Equality Impact Assessment

1.17.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.
1.18

Policy Considerations

1.18.1 Business Continuity/Resilience

Page 40

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

13

1.18.2 Community
1.18.3 Health and Safety
1.18.4 Healthy Lifestyles
1.19

Recommendations

1.19.1 Members are RECOMMENDED to:
1)

Note that the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is such that unless
there is further significant tranches of funding provided by the government
some significant decisions will need to be made if the integrity of the MTFS
is to be maintained and financial sustainability is not to be placed at risk.

2)

Note the progress made in meeting both the one-off savings target of
£500,000 and ongoing savings target of £100,000.

3)

Note the intention to bring a draft revision of the Savings and
Transformation Strategy to Cabinet in the Autumn.

The Director of Finance and Transformation confirms that the proposals contained in
the recommendation(s), if approved, will fall within the Council's Budget and policy
Framework.
Background papers:

contact: Neil Lawley

Nil
Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance and Transformation

Page 41

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 1

Salaries Budgetary Control Monitoring Statement
Period Ended Last Day of August 2020
2020/21 Financial Year

Service

Annual
Budget
2020/21

Budget
to end of
August
(a)

Actual
to end of
August
(b)

Above
(Below)
Budget
(b - a)

£

£

£

£

Central
Administration & Property

844,700

351,850

309,700

(42,150)

Legal

518,950

216,200

223,050

6,850

Personnel

433,800

199,700

202,750

3,050

547,150

223,200

211,700

(11,500)

1,884,600

765,750

749,350

(16,400)

933,250

383,350

361,100

(22,250)

Environmental Health & Housing

1,408,300

586,800

563,500

(23,300)

Planning

1,989,450

828,750

788,750

(40,000)

1,290,400

540,100

584,150

44,050

Executive
Finance & Transformation
Finance
Information Technology
Planning, Housing & Environmental Health

Street Scene, Leisure & Technical
Street Scene & Leisure
Technical
Management Savings
Shared Working Arrangements
Sub-total

672,550
-----------------10,523,150

280,250
-----------------4,375,950

289,650
-----------------4,283,700

9,400
-----------------(92,250)

(25,900)
-----------------10,497,250
------------------

(7,400)
-----------------4,368,550
------------------

(7,400)
-----------------4,276,300
------------------

0
-----------------(92,250)

Non-budgeted spend on recruitment & other expenses to the end of August

0

Payments outstanding for the period to the end of August

44,700

Budgeted management savings to the end of August

50,000

Budgeted ring-fenced sum to the end of August

(44,000)
-----------------(41,550)
------------------

Net Management Savings

Financial Services
3 September 2020

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 2

Income Budgetary Control Monitoring Statement
Period Ended Last Day of August 2020
2020/21 Financial Year

Service

Annual
Budget
2020/21

Budget
to end of
August
(a)

Actual
to end of
August
(b)

(Above)
Below
Budget
(b - a)

£

£

£

£

Central
Land Charges
Licensing
Sub-Total

(262,000)

(122,900)

(65,350)

57,550

(349,900)
----------------(611,900)
-----------------

(132,300)
----------------(255,200)
-----------------

(86,600)
----------------(151,950)
-----------------

45,700
----------------103,250
-----------------

(792,000)

(330,000)

(403,600)

(73,600)

(400,000)
----------------(1,192,000)
-----------------

(148,000)
----------------(478,000)
-----------------

(98,150)
----------------(501,750)
-----------------

49,850
----------------(23,750)
-----------------

(1,010,000)

(5,000)

(63,750)

(58,750)

(3,400)

(3,400)

Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
Planning Fees
Building Regulations
Sub-Total
Street Scene, Leisure & Technical
Garden Waste Collection
Recycling Performance Payment

(690,000)

0

Short Stay Car Parking

(1,983,000)

(803,000)

(263,500)

539,500

Long Stay Car Parking

(795,000)

(338,000)

(101,200)

236,800

Penalty Charge Notices

(315,000)

(131,250)

(62,850)

68,400

Car Parks Season Tickets

(257,000)

(150,000)

(38,800)

111,200

Residents Parking Permits

(148,000)

(70,000)

(52,850)

17,150

(120,650)
----------------(5,318,650)
--------------------------------(7,122,550)
-----------------

(61,050)
----------------(1,558,300)
--------------------------------(2,291,500)
-----------------

(78,350)
----------------(664,700)
--------------------------------(1,318,400)
-----------------

Country Parks Parking
Sub-Total
Grand Total

Financial Services
3 September 2020

Page 45

(17,300)
----------------893,600
--------------------------------973,100
-----------------

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
SUMMARY OF SERVICES
Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Capital Plan Schemes
Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services
Corporate

Sub-total

Page 47

1,453
1,678
73

821
1,041
257

3
828
0

3,204

2,119

831

n/a
n/a
n/a

6
1,202
558

0
19
52

n/a

1,766

71

3,204

3,885

902

Capital Renewals
Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services
Corporate

Sub-total

Total

1

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
PLANNING, HOUSING AND ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Capital Plan Schemes
Housing
Environmental Health

Sub-total

Capital Renewals

Page 48

Total Planning, Housing and Environmental Health

1,452

797

(20)

1

24

23

1,453

821

3

n/a

6

0

1,453

827

3

2

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
PLANNING, HOUSING AND ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Notes

Housing
(a)

Disabled Facility Grants
(i)

Mandatory Grants
Less repayments

P03AC

n/a

(ii)

Discretionary Grants
Less repayments

P03AT

n/a

(iii)

Government Grant
Sub-total

Page 49

(b)

Housing Assistance
Less repayments

P03AD
Sub-total

(c)

Temporary Accommodation
Less Developer Contributions

P03AX
Sub-total

Total Housing to Summary

1,298
(10)

142
(20)

0

n/a
n/a

(1,163)
125

(122)
0

n/a
n/a
n/a

60
(30)
30

(20)
(20)

3,046
(1,594)
1,452

642
642

0

1,452

797

(20)

3

Budget includes grant underspend of £137,000 carried forward from
2019/20.

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
PLANNING, HOUSING AND ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Environmental Health
(a)

Air Quality Monitoring Station

P02EN

Total Environmental Health to Summary

1

24

23

1

24

23

n/a

6

n/a

6

Capital Renewals
(b)

Environmental Protection

Page 50

Total Capital Renewals to Summary

P02EB CR01

4

0

Notes

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
STREET SCENE, LEISURE & TECHNICAL SERVICES
Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Capital Plan Schemes
Street Scene
Leisure
Larkfield Leisure Centre
Sports Grounds
Open Spaces
Other Leisure Schemes

Page 51

Technical Services
Car Parking

Sub-total

Capital Renewals

Total Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services

n/a

79

114

1,638
40
0
0

491
220
0
16

689
0
0
0

0

235

25

1,678

1,041

828

n/a

1,202

19

1,678

2,243

847

5

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
STREET SCENE, LEISURE & TECHNICAL SERVICES
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Notes

Street Scene
(a)
(b)
(c)

Green Waste Bins Growth / Replacement
Refuse Bins Growth / Replacement
New Waste / Recycling Growth / Replacement

P02BC
P02DA
P03CF

Total Street Scene to Summary

n/a
n/a
n/a

33
39
7

45
55
14

n/a

79

114

1,638

491

689

1,638

491

689

Larkfield Leisure Centre
(d)

Ventilation, Boiler & Pool Hall Roof

P05LP

Page 52

Total Larkfield Leisure Centre to Summary

Sports Grounds
(e)

Tonbridge School Athletics Track Improvements
Less Developer Contribution

P05DC
Sub-total

(f)

Racecourse Sports Ground Riverside Revetment
Less Grants

P05DD
Sub-total

(g)

Racecourse Sportsground Rugby Pitch Drainage
Less Developer Contributions

Racecourse Sportsground Swimming Pool Bridge
Less Developer Contributions

P05DN
Sub-total

Total Sports Grounds to Summary

21
(21)
0

0

18
(14)
4

207
(14)
193

0

0

16
(8)
8

0

20
(1)
19

0

P05DE
Sub-total

(h)

140
(140)
0

100
(64)
36

40

220

6

0

Scheme complete. Overspend of £198k is anticipated relating to
additional work to roof supports, replacement (not refurbishment) of the
air handling unit, asbestos removal and delays caused by Covid-19.

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
STREET SCENE, LEISURE & TECHNICAL SERVICES
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Open Spaces
(a)

Haysden Country Park Sewage Treatment
Less Developer Contributions

P05FC
Sub-total

(b)

Leybourne lakes Country Park Path Improvements
Less Grants & Developer Contributions
Sub-total

100
(100)
0

30
(30)
0

22
(22)
0

0

60
(60)
0

0

0

0

0

P05FH

Total Open Spaces to Summary

Page 53

Other Leisure Schemes
(c)

Tonbridge Cemetery - Memorial Garden Vaults

P05KC

Total Other Leisure Schemes to Summary

16

0

16

0

n/a

25

17

210

8

235

25

Car Parking
(d)

Existing Car Parks Improvement Rolling Programme

P01AB

(e)

Car Parking Improvement Works

P01AD

Total Car Parking to Summary

0

7

Notes

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
STREET SCENE, LEISURE & TECHNICAL SERVICES
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Capital Renewals
Technical Services
(a) CCTV
(b) Car Parking
Leisure General
(c) Sports Grounds & Open Spaces

P01BA
P01JF

n/a
n/a

15
3

P05KGBC05

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

375
393
7
400

P05KGBC01
P05KGBC02
P05KGBC04

n/a
n/a
n/a

265
286
187

2
15
2

P05KGBC03
P05KGBC07
P05KGBC06

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

136
28
152
1,054
15
(267)
802

19

n/a

1,202

19

Sub-total
Provision for inflation

Page 54

Leisure Centres
(d) Angel Centre
(e) Larkfield Leisure Centre
(f) Tonbridge Swimming Pool
(g) Poult Wood Golf
Clubhouse
Course
Grounds Maintenance
Provision for inflation
Savings Target (assumes 25%)
Sub-total

Total Capital Renewals to Summary

8

0
0

19

Notes
} Budgets includes £279,000 underspend carried forward from 2019/20. To
} be reviewed Autumn 2020.
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}
}

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
CORPORATE
Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Capital Plan Schemes
Information Technology Initiatives

Sub-total

Capital Renewals

Page 55

Total Corporate

73

257

0

73

257

0

n/a

558

52

73

815

52

9

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
CORPORATE
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Information Technology Initiatives
(a)

General IT Developments

P06DA

n/a

30

(b)

Council Chamber Conference System

P06ER

68

27

(c)

Revenues and Benefits IT Digital Solution

P06EW

5

60

(d)

CMS Website Solution

P06EX

Total Information Technology Initiatives to Summary

140

73

257

Page 56
10

0

Notes

Annex 3

CAPITAL PLAN MONITORING STATEMENT 2020/21 TO 31 AUGUST 2020
CORPORATE
Code

Expenditure
To 31/03/20

£'000

2020/21
Including
Prior Year
Slippage
£'000

2020/21
Actual to
31 August
2020
£'000

Notes

Capital Renewals
(a)

General :
Departmental Administration
Council Offices
Print Unit
Telephones
Snack Facilities

P06FA
GR01
GR03
GR03
GR05
GR06
Sub-total

(b)

Page 57

Information Technology :
Desktop Hardware
Mobile Hardware
Computer Suite
Other Hardware
Network
Corporate Software
Operational Software
User Software

P06FB
FB10
FB20
FB30
FB40
FB50
FB60
FB70
FB80

5
2
74
9
1
91
460

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

460

Provision for Inflation

n/a

7

Total Capital Renewals to Summary

n/a

558

Sub-total
(c)

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

11

} Budgets includes £182,000 underspend carried forward from 2019/20. To
} be reviewed Autumn 2020.
}
}
}
}
0 }
}
}
17 }
2 }
4 }
}
}
}
29 }
}
52 }
}
}
}
}
52 }

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Report of the Director of Finance and Transformation
Part 1- Public
Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Non-Key Decision (Decision may be taken
by the Cabinet Member)
1

CAPITAL PROGRAMME: POST IMPLEMENTATION REVIEWS MONITORING
REPORT
This report identifies the post implementation reviews carried out since the
meeting of this Board in July 2019 and the capital plan schemes for which
reviews will be due. The report also brings forward a post implementation
review in respect of the Replacement Revenue and Benefits Document
Management System for consideration and approval.

1.1

Background

1.1.1

The Council’s Capital Strategy provides for the reporting of post implementation
reviews to demonstrate the effectiveness of capital expenditure. A system for
monitoring post implementation reviews for capital projects was endorsed by this
Board and subsequent monitoring reports have been presented to meetings of the
Board.

1.2

Progress

1.2.1

Capital projects for which a post implementation review has been carried out since
the meeting of this Board on 17 July 2019 are detailed in [Annex 1]. The Annex
covers the following schemes including the Replacement Revenue and Benefits
Document Management System being reported to this meeting:


Haysden Country Park Car Park Extension (CHAB November 2019).



Tonbridge to Penshurst Cycle Route Refurbishment (CHAB November
2019).



Tonbridge Cemetery Path Works (CHAB November 2019).



Replacement Revenue and Benefits Document Management System
(FIPAB September 2019).

Page 59

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

2

Replacement Revenue and Benefits Document Management System Post
Implementation Review (PIR)
1.2.2

A copy of the PIR for the Replacement Revenue and Benefits Document
Management System can be found at [Annex 2].

1.2.3

The schedule of forthcoming and outstanding post implementation reviews is
provided at [Annex 3]. The schedule comprises 25 schemes. Post
implementation reviews in respect of those schemes listed as due (green) and,
one overdue (orange), are expected to be reported to an appropriate advisory
board before the next annual review.

1.3

Legal Implications

1.3.1

None.

1.4

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.4.1

The reporting of post implementation reviews is important for testing the
effectiveness of the Council’s capital expenditure and is in accordance with the
Council’s Capital Strategy.

1.5

Risk Assessment

1.5.1

There is a risk that not carrying out post implementation reviews may lead to the
repetition of capital expenditure which is not effective or does not provide value for
money.

1.6

Equality Impact Assessment

1.6.1

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

1.7

Recommendations

1.7.1

The Post Implementation Review in respect of the Replacement Revenue and
Benefits Document Management System [Annex 2] be approved.

The Director of Finance and Transformation confirms that the proposals contained in
the recommendation(s), if approved, will fall within the Council's Budget and policy
Framework.
Background papers:

contact: Mike Withey

Nil
Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance and Transformation

Page 60

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

Annex 1

Capital Plan Post Implementation Reviews - September 2020
Post Implementation Review Monitoring: Completed Reviews
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Completion Date / Final Payment:
Final Cost:
Post-implementation review (PIR):

SSL&T - Open Spaces
Haysden Country Park Car Park Extension
FIPAB / 3 Jan 2018 / Recommended for List B
2018/19 / £30,000 to be funded in full from developer contributions
September 2018
£26,789
12 Months after completion

Criteria for judging success:

The scheme will be judged against:
- Provision of increased parking capacity at Haysden Country Park.
- Increased car parking income.
Communities and Housing AB / 12 November 2019

Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Completion Date / Final Payment:
Final Cost:
Post-implementation review (PIR):

SSL&T - Other Schemes
Tonbridge to Penshurst Cycle Route Refurbishment
FIPAB / 3 Jan 2018 / Recommended for List B
2018/19 / £60,000 to be funded in full from developer contributions
September 2018
£36,847
12 Months after completion

Criteria for judging success:

The scheme will be judged against:
- Maintaining safe public access for all.

PIR reported: Body / Date

Communities and Housing AB / 12 November 2019

Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Completion Date / Final Payment:
Final Cost:
Post-implementation review (PIR):

SSL&T - Other Schemes
Tonbridge Cemetery Path Works
FIPAB / 3 Jan 2018 / Recommended for List B
2018/19 / £15,000 to be funded in full from developer contributions
November 2018
£17,472
12 Months after completion

Criteria for judging success:

The scheme will be judged against:
- Compliance with health and safety recommendations.
- Maintaining safe access.

Page 61

PIR reported: Body / Date

PIR reported: Body / Date

Communities and Housing AB / 12 November 2019

Notes
To increase car parking capacity in response to visitor demand.

Provision has provided additional parking capacity which has enabled
demand to be met in full at peak times. Increased parking income
achieved and reflected in revenue estimates.

Budget reduced to £23,000 2018/19 Capital Plan Review. Scheme
completed mid-way between original and amended budget. Funded in full
from developer contributions.
To maintain sections of the Tonbridge to Penshurst Cycle Route that fall
within the responsibility of Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council.

Works have successfully addressed identified health and safety
concerns.

Budget reduced to £37,000 2018/19 Capital Plan Review. Scheme
completed within budget. Funded in full from developer and other
contributions.
Upgrade to a section of path to provide safe public access.

Project successfully addressed identified health and safety concerns.

Budget increased to £17,000 2018/19 Capital Plan Review. Scheme
completed in-line with amended budget. Funded in full from developer
contributions.

Annex 1

Capital Plan Post Implementation Reviews - September 2020
Post Implementation Review Monitoring: Completed Reviews
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Completion Date / Final Payment:
Final Cost:
Post-implementation review (PIR):

Corporate Services - Information Technology Initiatives
Replacement Revenue & Benefits Document Management System.
FIPAB / 7 January 2015 / Recommended for List B
2015/16 / £60,000 to be met in full from Government grant
January 2019
£54,679 offset by £50,129 Government Grant.
6 Months after completion

Criteria for judging success:

The scheme will be judged against:
- Implementation of a PSN (Public Services Network) compliant
document management system.

PIR reported: Body / Date

Finance, Innovation & Property AB / 16 September 2020

Notes
A standalone system for Revenue and Benefits is required outside the
corporate document management system. The existing system is now
out-of-date and no longer supported.
The implemented system is PSN compliant and allows document
retention policies to be applied, ensuring compliance with GDPR. The
system also includes tools to get much improved management
information allowing more effective performance management and
management of priorities in staff teams. The system includes an element
of customisation allowing the way documents are stored and distributed to
be modified without the need for additional external support.

Scheme completed within original budget. A proportion of the expected
Government grant was used to support a similar scheme for Housing.

Page 62

Annex 2
Capital Plan Post Implementation Review
Service:

Corporate Services – Information Technology Initiatives

Scheme Title:

Replacement Revenue & Benefits Document Management System.

Scheme Description:

A standalone system for Revenue and Benefits is required outside the
corporate document management system. The existing system is now
out-of-date and no longer supported.

Evaluation:

Finance, Innovation and Property Advisory Board January 2015.

Capital Plan Year(s)

2015/16

Approved budget

£60,000 to be met in full from Government grant.

National Priorities

None

Local Priorities

Improving efficiency and resilience of services (former corporate
priority).

Targets for judging
success:

Implementation of a PSN (Public Services Network) compliant document
management system for Revenue and Benefits.

Completion date
(work completed):

January 2019

Completion date (final
payment):

January 2019

Projected date for
post implementation
review:

Six months after completion.

Final cost:

£54,679 offset by £50,129 Government Grant.

Performance against
National and Local
Priorities and Targets:

The existing system was out of date and no longer supported, and as
such could not be kept up to the required PSN standards. The
implemented system is PSN compliant and allows document retention
policies to be applied, ensuring compliance with GDPR. The system
also includes tools to get much improved management information
allowing more effective performance management and management of
priorities in staff teams. The system includes an element of
customisation allowing the way documents are stored and distributed to
be modified without the need for additional external support. The fact
that the Revenue and Benefits Section has continued to provide an
excellent service in some of the most challenging times is testament to
how the new system has supported staff to work more flexibly whilst
maintaining efficiency.

Budget performance /
Value for money:

Scheme completed within original budget. A proportion of the expected
Government grant was used to support a similar scheme for Housing.

Other performance /
procurement issues:
Ongoing /
Outstanding issues:

None
None

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Forthcoming and Outstanding Capital Plan Post Implementation Reviews - September 2020
Post Implementation Review Monitoring: Forthcoming and Outstanding Reviews
Service:
Scheme Category:
1 Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
2 Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:

3

Page 65

4

Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:

5

6

7

8

9

GREEN = Complete 1 year ago (2018/19)

Notes

PH&EH - Housing
Sustainable Communities Programme
Temporary Accommodation
Cabinet / 20 March 2018 / Recommended for List A
2018/19 / £1,600,000
PH&EH - Environmental Health
Air Quality
Air Quality Monitoring Station
FIPAB / 9 Jan 2019 / Selected for List B
2019/20 / £20,000

Part funded by developer contributions. Gross budget increased to
£3.688m FIPAB September 2019 and Cabinet October 2019 to purchase
additional properties.

SSL&T - Street Scene
Waste Collection & Recycling
Containers for new Waste / Recycling Service
SSESAB / 4 Sep 2018 / Selected for List B
2019/20 / £600,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Larkfield Leisure Centre
Ventilation, Boiler and Pool Hall Roof
FIPAB / 3 Jan 2018 / Selected for List B
2018/19 / £505,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Sports Grounds
Tonbridge School Athletics Track Improvements
FIPAB / 7 Jan 2015 / Selected for List B
2018/19 / £150,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Sports Grounds
Racecourse Sports Ground Riverside Rivetment
FIPAB / 4 Jan 2017 / Selected for List B
2017/18 / £120,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Sports Grounds
Racecourse Sports Ground Rugby Pitch Drainage
FIPAB / 3 Jan 2018 / Selected for List B
2018/19 / £25,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Sports Grounds
Racecourse Sports Ground Swimming Pool Bridge
FIPAB / 9 Jan 2019 / Selected for List B
2019/20 / £120,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Open Spaces
Site Improvements Phase 2
F&PAB / 4 January 2012 / Selected for List B
2012/13 / £69,000

Budget increased to £695,000 2019/20 Capital Plan Review.

Annex 3
Current if listed in the
2021 Capital Plan or
year of last payment
Current

Budget increased to £25,000 2019/20 Capital Plan Review.
Current

Current

Budget increased to £1.4m, 2018/19 Capital Plan Review to incorporate
updated cost estimates and expand the scheme to include replacement
of the Pool Hall Roof. Budget increased to £2.129m following reports to
FIPAB June 2019 and Cabinet October 2019.

Current

Funded in full by grants and other contributions. Gross budget increased
to £161,000 funded in full by additional developer contributions, Capital
Plan Review 2017/18.

Current

Part funded by Environment Agency Grant of £28,000. Gross budget
increased to £225,000 following a tender exercise and cost review in
2018, 2018/19 Capital Plan Review.

Current

Gross budget reduced to £16,000 and developer contributions reduced
from £25,000 to £8,000, 2018/19 Capital Plan Review.

Current

Part funded by developer contributions of £65,000
Current

Original scheme funded in full by developer contributions. Gross budget
increased to £74,000 2019/20 Capital Plan Review by way of a virement
from Memorial Safety Scheme.

ORANGE = Completed 2 years ago (2017/18)

Current

RED = Completed 3 or more years ago (2016/17 or before)

Forthcoming and Outstanding Capital Plan Post Implementation Reviews - September 2020
Post Implementation Review Monitoring: Forthcoming and Outstanding Reviews

10

11

12

Page 66

13

Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision

14

15

16

17

18

GREEN = Complete 1 year ago (2018/19)

SSL&T - Leisure
Open Spaces
Haysden Country Park Sewerage Treatment
FIPAB / 3 Jan 2018 / Selected for List B
2018/19 / £75,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Open Spaces
Leybourne Lakes Country Park Path Improvements
FIPAB / 8 Jan 2020 / Selected for List B
2020/21 / £60,000
SSL&T - Leisure
Other Schemes
Tonbridge Cemetery Memorial Garden Vaults
FIPAB / 8 Jan 2020 / Selected for List B
2020/21 / £16,000
SSL&T - Technical
Car Parking
Parking Action Plan Phase 8 & 9
F&PAB / 4 Jan 2006 & 7 Jan 2015 / Selected for List B
2006/07 / £20,000, 2015/16 £20,000
SSL&T - Technical
Car Parking
Car Park Improvement Works
FIPAB / 8 Jan 2020 / Selected for List B
2020/21 / £210,000
SSL&T - Technical
Transportation Initiatives
Local Transport Plan Partnership Programme
Various
2001/02 to 2008/09 / £318,000.
SSL&T - Technical
Land Drainage / Flood Defence
Drainage Improvement Programme
F&PAB / 2 Jan 2008 / Selected for List B
2007/08 / £15,000 and £20,000 per annum from 2008/09
SSL&T - Technical
Land Drainage / Flood Defence
Wouldham River Wall
FIPAB / 8 Jan 2014 / Selected for List B
2015/16 / £700,000
SSL&T - Technical
Land Drainage / Flood Defence
Leigh Flood Storage Area
Cabinet / 6 September 2016 / Recommended for List A
2020/21 / £500,000

Notes
Funded in full by developer contributions. Gross budget increased to
£130,000 2019/20 Capital Plan Review.

Annex 3
Current if listed in the
2021 Capital Plan or
year of last payment

Current

Current

Current

Parking initiatives funded from Revenue in 2019/20 onwards.

Last payment 2018/19
Total spend £23,000
(1 year)

Current

Gross budget amended to £224,000 offset by £9,000 in external funding
2015/16 Capital Plan Review.

Last payment 2018/19
Total spend £ 224,000
(1 year)

Post implementation review to be undertaken after 4 years. Budget
provision limited to a total of £72,000 in the 2008/09 Capital Plan Review. Last payment 2017/18
Gross budget increased to £102,000 offset by £30,000 funding from
Total spend £ 88,000
DEFRA in the 2010/11 Capital Plan Review. Gross budget reduced to
(2 years)
£88,000 Capital Plan Review 2018/19.
Budget increased to £1,125,000 2018/19 Capital Plan Review.

ORANGE = Completed 2 years ago (2017/18)

Current

Current

RED = Completed 3 or more years ago (2016/17 or before)

Forthcoming and Outstanding Capital Plan Post Implementation Reviews - September 2020
Post Implementation Review Monitoring: Forthcoming and Outstanding Reviews

19

20

21

22

Page 67

Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:
Service:
Scheme Category:
Scheme Title:
Evaluation Meeting: Body / Date / Action
Capital Plan Year / Provision:

23

GREEN = Complete 1 year ago (2018/19)

Corporate
Information Technology Initiatives
Housing Document Management
CHAB / 14 November 2016 / Recommended for List A
2016/17 / £40,000
Corporate
Information Technology Initiatives
Council Chamber Conference System
FIPAB / 4 January 2017 / Selected for List B
2017/18 / £95,000
Corporate
Information Technology Initiatives
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure
FIPAB / 4 January 2017 / Selected for List B
2017/18 / £200,000
Corporate
Information Technology Initiatives
Revenues & Benefits IT Digital Solution
FIPAB / 21 June 2017 / Recommended for List A
2017/18 / £65,000
Corporate
Information Technology Initiatives
Data Protection (GDRP) Software
Cabinet / 20 March 2018 / Recommended for List A
2018/19 / £66,000

Notes
Part funded by Government Grant of £8,000

Annex 3
Current if listed in the
2021 Capital Plan or
year of last payment
Last payment 2018/19
Total spend £ 38,000
(1 year)

Current

Budget reduced to £188,000 2019/20 Capital Plan Review.

ORANGE = Completed 2 years ago (2017/18)

Last payment 2018/19
Total spend £ 188,000
(1 year)

Current

Last payment 2018/19
Total spend £ 70,000
(1 year)

RED = Completed 3 or more years ago (2016/17 or before)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Joint Report of Chief Executive and the Director of Finance & Transformation
Part 1- Public
Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Non-Key Decision (Decision may be taken
by the Cabinet Member)
1

LOCAL EMERGENCY ASSISTANCE GRANT
A report providing a brief description of the new Grant and making
recommendations on its use.

1.1

Introduction

1.1.1

In July 2020 the Government announced further grants to be paid to upper tier
councils to provide local support during the pandemic to assist vulnerable
households.

1.1.2

In essence, local authorities are advised to:






Use the funding to meet immediate need and help those who are struggling to
afford food and essentials due to COVID-19
Use the funding for existing schemes and other support which deliver the same
outcomes and where the need is greatest
Work together with other local authorities to provide support and ensure the
funding meets its objectives.
Use discretion on how to identify and support those most in need

1.1.3

Government anticipates that most of the funding will be put to use within 12
weeks. Light touch reporting is expected to monitor the use and effectiveness of
grants.

1.1.4

Full guidance can be found at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-local-authorityemergency-assistance-grant-for-food-and-essential-supplies/coronavirus-covid19-local-authority-emergency-assistance-grant-for-food-and-essential-supplies

1.2

Kent approach

1.2.1

Members will be aware of the work that our Community Hub achieved for
vulnerable households and how this has now drawn to a close with the ending of
shielding measures. During this time, many Covid focussed services have evolved

Page 69

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

2

across the Borough from voluntary groups and charities, providing indispensable
community support and assistance.
1.2.2

A cross County agreement led to individual allocations of the Emergency
Assistance Grant to districts from Kent County Council. The table below shows
the itemised distribution.

1.2.3

The Kent County Council share will be used to provide financial resource to the
Kent Support and Assistance Service.

1.2.4

Districts have the discretion and responsibility as to how they put their allocated
grants to best use within the loose overall framework set out in the guidance. Our
approach has been to invite bids from those groups working in the community to
sustain or supplement their services. An email message was also sent to
Members and parishes to gain reach.

1.2.5

Following a two week window of applications, 12 requests were received. They
are listed at ANNEX 1. All but one of the requests meet the criteria for an award,
with the exception being a bid made by Snodland Town Council on behalf of a
pre-school group using their premises. The request was for £5,000 to replenish
financial reserves used to pay staff who were unable to be paid through the
furlough scheme. Although sympathetic to the situation, unfortunately we do not
believe it fits the guidance.

1.2.6

Members will see that the total of the proposed awards is £43,607, leaving a
balance of £3,748.61. We propose the remainder to be held in reserve for direct
use by the Council to provide assistance as may be required, along the lines of
the services we have been providing through our Community Hub.

Page 70

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

3

1.3

Legal Implications

1.3.1

Funds to be awarded in line with Government guidance

1.4

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.4.1

Assessments of bids have been made with best value in mind. Assessment and
distribution of funds has a minor financial impact.

1.5

Risk Assessment

1.5.1

Bids have been assessed against criteria from Government guidance. Funds will
need to be returned to Kent County Council if not put to use.

1.6

Policy Considerations

1.6.1

Community

1.7

Equality Impact Assessment

1.7.1

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users

1.8

Recommendation

1.8.1

Members are asked to RECOMMEND to Cabinet that:
1)

Awards of the Council’s Local Emergency Assistance Grant are made in
accordance with the approved bids listed in Annex 1; and

2)

The balance of £3,748.61 be held on reserve for use as necessary within
the parameters of the scheme under direction of the Chief Executive or
Director of Finance and Transformation.

The Chief Executive and Director of Finance and Transformation confirm that the
proposals contained in the recommendation(s), if approved, will fall within the Council's
Budget and policy Framework.
Background papers:

contact: Andrew Rosevear
Gill Fox

Nil
Julie Beilby
Chief Executive

Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance & Transformation

Page 71

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

ANNEX 1
Applications to Emergency Assistance Grant

Organisation

Use

Tonbridge Baptist Church
East Malling Centre Larder
Ditton Parish Council
Snodland Church Food
Bank
Wouldham Parish Council
St Peters and St Pauls
Church Aylesford
Age UK Sevenoaks &
Tonbridge
Imago Community Dial 2
Drive

Foodbank
Foodbank
Foodbank
Foodbank

Crosslight
Northwest Kent Citizen
Advice
Crossroads Care Kent

Amount requested £

Food vouchers
Storage facility for
foodbank
Befriending service
Community
transport and
befriending
Debt counselling
caseworker
Signposting and
support
Respite and support
for carers

Proposed total allocation
Devonshire Rooms preschool, Snodland

Criteria met

10,000
8,400
1,000
1,500

Y
Y
Y
Y

500
500

Y
Y

2,000

Y

4,266

Y

6,941

Y

1,000

Y

7,500

Y

43,607
Replenish reserves

Page 73

5,000

N

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Report of the Director of Finance and Transformation
Part 1- Public
Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Non-Key Decision (Decision may be taken
by the Cabinet Member)
1

RURAL RATE RELIEF – RURAL SETTLEMENT LIST
A report informing Members of the requirement to review the Council’s rural
settlement list and recommending that the current list should be retained,
unaltered, for the financial year 2021/22.

1.1

Members will be aware that the Council grants relief to certain types of businesses
that are located in rural settlements. For the purpose of granting relief, the rural
settlements within the area of Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council are shown
in the Council’s rural settlement list. The list is in the form of a map, which shows
the location and boundaries of each rural settlement. The map is shown at
ANNEX 1.

1.2

At this time of year, the Council has to consider whether it wishes to amend the
rural settlement list for the forthcoming financial year. If it wishes to do so, then it
must consult on any changes that it proposes to make.

1.3

Members should be aware that I have received no suggestions for amendment of
the list. I am also unaware of any problems arising from the definitions of the rural
settlements in the current list.

1.4

Legal Implications

1.4.1

None.

1.5

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.5.1

None.

1.6

Risk Assessment

1.6.1

No risks identified.

Page 75

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

2

1.7

Equality Impact Assessment

1.7.1

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

1.8

Recommendations

1.8.1

In view of the above, Members are REQUESTED to RECOMMEND to Cabinet
that the current rural settlement list should remain in force for the year 2021/22.

The Director of Finance and Transformation confirms that the proposals contained in
the recommendation(s), if approved, will fall within the Council's Budget and policy
Framework.
Background papers:

contact: Glen Pritchard
Tel: 01732 876146

Nil
Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance and Transformation

Page 76

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-NKD-Part 1 Public

16 September 2020

RURAL SETTLEMENTS MAP
Map of Rural Settlements within Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council
Map Dated: 12 Dec 2017

Wouldham
Peter's
Village
Stansted

Burham

Blue
Bell Hill

Fairseat
Eccles
Birling
Trottiscliffe

Ryash

Wrotham
Addington
Aylesford
Village

West
Malling

Wrotham Addington
Heath Clearway
Offham

Platt

East
Malling

Ightham
Oldbury
Basted
Ightham
Common

Crouch
Herne
Pound

Ivy
Hatch

Mereworth
Village

Plaxtol
Dunks
Green

Wateringbury

West
Peckham

Shipbourne

Hadlow
Village

Hale
East
Street
Peckham
Village

Hildenborough
Village

Golden Green
and Barnes
Street

±

Scale: 1:80,000

Peckham
Bush

Little
Mill

Snoll
Hatch

Page 77
Esri, HERE, DeLorme, MapmyIndia, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL
FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD
16 September 2020
Report of the Director of Finance and Transformation
Part 1- Public
Matters for Information
1

REVENUES AND BENEFITS UPDATE REPORT
A report detailing recent developments in respect of council tax, business
rates, council tax reduction and housing benefits.

1.1

Collection of council tax and business rates

1.1.1

I am pleased to report that all of the Kent authorities have now submitted their
final collection rates for 2019/20 (see ANNEX 1) and that once again, ours are the
highest in Kent.

1.1.2

As at 31 August 2020, the collection rate for council tax stood at 45.19%. For the
same period in the year 2019/20, the collection rate was also 45.95%.

1.1.3

As at 31 August 2020, the collection rate for business rates stood at 48.07%. For
the same period in the year 2019/20, the collection rate was 48.29%.

1.1.4

Members will note that the number of recovery notices issued so far this financial
year (see ANNEX 2) is considerably lower than last year for the reasons I
reported at the July meeting of this Board.

1.1.5

At the time of writing this report, we are still waiting for the Magistrates’ Court to
advise when liability order hearings will be rescheduled. Until then, the recovery
action we can take is limited, so it is encouraging that the collection rates are
holding up quite well compared to the previous year.

1.2

Business Grant Funding Schemes

1.2.1

Government has announced that the two schemes (Small Business Grant and
Retail, Hospitality & Leisure Grant) will finish on 30 September 2020. Applications
for these grants closed on 28 August, and final payments are being made at the
time of writing this report.

1.2.2

To date, we have paid 1,524 businesses a total of £19,355,000 some 96.2% of
our allocation of £20,120,000.

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-Part 1 Public

Page 79

16 September 2020

2

1.2.3

This has helped our local businesses tremendously through the lockdown period
and will hopefully enable them to continue trading now that restrictions are starting
to ease.

1.3

Business Rate Review

1.3.1

The government recently published a paper entitled Business Rates Review – Call
for Evidence covering, amongst other things, the business rates multiplier, reliefs
and valuations to inform and aid consideration of future business rates reforms.

1.3.2

The paper is available to view at
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/903429/Business_Rates_Review_-_CfE.pdf

1.4

Performance and Workload of the Benefits Service

1.4.1

The average number of days taken to process new claims for housing benefit
since April now stands at around 14. The number has increased and is likely to
rise further as the proportion of claims from temporary accommodation
(households placed as homeless by our Housing team) increases. Numbers in
temporary accommodation are at an all-time high and there are fewer general new
claims for housing benefit as most new customers claim housing cost assistance
through Universal Credit. Temporary accommodation falls outside of Universal
Credit for housing cost assistance, remaining under housing benefit rules. It is
often more difficult to obtain information necessary to assess claims from
temporary accommodation, causing delays, as customers priorities will lie
elsewhere at that point when they are placed. My Service is working together with
the Housing Service, investigating how the process can be made simpler and
quicker for everyone.

1.4.2

The number of households in the Borough receiving housing benefit assistance
continues to steadily fall due to households moving across to Universal Credit.
The number now stands at around 4650 and is likely to drop at an increased rate
over the coming months as the pandemic impacts further on jobs. The number of
pension age households, who will remain on housing benefit and not transfer to
Universal Credit is steady at around 2035.

1.4.3

Conversely, the number of households in the Borough receiving council tax
support continues to rise, now at around 7,000 homes. This is unsurprising given
the increase in Universal Credit claims. Latest figures from the Department for
Work and Pensions show that the number of new Universal Credit claims each
week have been running at 3.3 times higher on average since 16 March 2020.
Talking to local officers, it appears numbers have steadied recently but the
expectation is for a sharp rise due to the end of the Governments furlough
scheme. Across Kent, the DWP are recruiting around 100 new staff to help handle
the new demands. Priority is not only placed on speedy assessment and payment
of Universal Credit but also on support with job searches. The highest increase in

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-Part 1 Public

Page 80

16 September 2020

3

numbers out of work is in school leavers, where the DWP are also focussing their
own recruitment drives.
1.4.4

The Borough and the Furlough Scheme

1.4.5

As we are all aware, the Chancellor announced the Government’s Coronavirus
Job Retention Scheme on the 20 March 2020 which came into effect
retrospectively from 1 March. Employers could from that point furlough
employees, claiming back 80% of their wages up to £2,500 per month. From 1
July the scheme became flexible, enabling employers to bring furloughed
employees back to work for any hours and shift patterns and claim for the hours
not worked. A graduated withdrawal of support is timetabled to bring the Scheme
to a close at the end of October 2020.

1.4.6

Since summer, Government has published statistics relating to the Scheme’s use.
Details can be found on the .Gov website at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/hmrc-coronavirus-covid-19-statistics

1.4.7

I have collated a table at ANNEX 3 showing the numbers of employees
furloughed across Kent by local authority and the percentage of ‘furlough eligible’
workforce this represents.

1.4.8

Members will see from the table how the figures reflect the strength in our local
economy across the Borough compared to others in Kent. Given our size, we
have 60,300 ‘eligible employments’, only slightly lower than the figure for
Canterbury and ranked 4th highest of the 12 Councils. Swale and Maidstone are
also recognised as having more employments, as would be expected due to the
scale of the Boroughs.

1.4.9

With the end of the furlough scheme in sight it is widely thought that a percentage
of workers supported by the Scheme will sadly not be returning to work due to the
economic downturn. Assuming the ‘hit’ applies across the board, the potential is
for the end of the Scheme to have a greater intensity of impact on our Borough
than others, meaning we could see larger numbers out of work, accessing
services or support in comparison to other areas while our capacity to meet those
demands may face greater pressures.

1.4.10 The Council’s Covid 19 response so far has been to prioritise support for
vulnerable households, rapidly respond to business needs with grants, develop
relationships and work together with partners in delivering fast and easily
accessible services. As we witness the evolving social economic landscape
coming out of national lockdown, it is clear to see that we will face still further
challenging times ahead.
1.4.11 Discretionary Housing Payments
1.4.12 As I reported to Members at our last Board meeting, the volume of discretionary
housing payment (DHP) applications has significantly fallen since mid March. In

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-Part 1 Public

Page 81

16 September 2020

4

what would normally be a busy period over the financial year end and continuing
into the first quarter, we received a third of our usual number of applications. The
reason behind this is attributed to the stay placed by Government preventing
landlords to take eviction proceedings during the pandemic. Court action was due
to recommence in August but the suspension has currently been extended to 20
September. Alongside this protection, a new requirement for landlords to provide
tenants with six months’ notice of eviction will be in place until next March,
although Government is keen to stress that both these measures will be kept
under review. There are some exceptions to the evictions stay, where evictions
may still proceed relating to matters such as severe anti-social behaviour and
domestic abuse.
1.4.13 The balance of the DHP budget at the time of writing this report stands at
£248,000, having used £65,000 since April. My officers are working proactively
with Clarion Housing, Citizen Advice and Crosslight Advice to identify households
currently in difficulty with rent arrears and assist where possible, but there remains
a significant underspend at this point in time.
1.4.14 Spend of the fund is carefully monitored and budgeted throughout each year to
ensure awards are made to the greatest effect while at the same time ensuring
sufficient funds are in hand for the remainder of a financial year. Any underspend
at the end of each year must be returned to Government. Should the current
conditions continue then I, along with my colleagues across Kent, will make
representation to the Department for Work & Pensions for agreement to carryover any underspend as difficulties and arrears accrue.
1.4.15 The Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21
1.4.16 At our previous Board meeting I expressed to Members my hopes to bring to this
meeting a fuller evaluation of this year’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme. With
consideration to current conditions I propose not to go ahead with the evaluation
for the following reasons:


The economic landscape



Emergency hardship support scheme



Suspended council tax recovery actions

1.4.17 At the present time I am satisfied that our Council Tax Reduction Scheme is
working as intended. There is nothing to suggest a pressing need for deeper
evaluation, which would be made difficult when trying to disentangle factors from
the extra-ordinary events of this year. I also believe my officers’ time can be better
served on other matters.
1.5

Legal Implications

1.5.1

Nil.

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-Part 1 Public

Page 82

16 September 2020

5

1.6

Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.6.1

The percentage of council tax and business rates collected during the year
impacts on the Council’s finances and, consequently, on the level of council tax
for future years.

1.7

Risk Assessment

1.7.1

Nil.

1.8

Equality Impact Assessment

1.8.1

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users at
this point.

1.9

Policy Considerations

1.9.1

Community

1.9.2

Customer Contact

Background papers:
1. In respect of the collection of council tax and
business rates, data held within Financial
Services.

contact: Glen Pritchard
01732 876146
Andrew Rosevear
01732 876143

Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance and Transformation

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-Part 1 Public

Page 83

16 September 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 85

Council Tax
Ashford
Canterbury
Dartford
Dover
Folkestone & Hythe
Gravesham
Maidstone
Medway
Sevenoaks
Swale
Thanet
Tonbridge & Malling
Tunbridge Wells

Actual 2019/20
98.22%
98.05%
96.90%
97.23%
97.48%
96.47%
97.49%
94.91%
98.40%
96.40%
95.71%
98.48%
98.09%

NNDR
Ashford
Canterbury
Dartford
Dover
Folkestone & Hythe
Gravesham
Maidstone
Medway
Sevenoaks
Swale
Thanet
Tonbridge & Malling
Tunbridge Wells

Actual 2019/20
99.24%
98.18%
97.40%
99.20%
98.03%
98.36%
97.52%
96.78%
97.40%
98.37%
98.31%
99.43%
98.03%

ANNEX 1

This page is intentionally left blank

Reminder Notice
2019
2020
Variation
% Variation

Final Notice

6,683
8,312
1629
24.38%

Summons

2,941
700
-2241
-76.20%

2,196
-2196
-100.00%

Total

ANNEX 2

11,820
9,012
-2808
-23.76%

Variation

9,000
2000

8,000

1500
1000

7,000

500

6,000

-500

0

Reminder Notice

Final Notice

Summons

Variation

-1000
-1500

5,000

Page 87

2019
2020

4,000

-2000
-2500

% Variation

3,000

40.00%
20.00%

2,000

0.00%
-20.00%

1,000

-40.00%
-

-60.00%
Reminder Notice

Final Notice

Summons

-80.00%
-100.00%
-120.00%

Reminder Notice

Final Notice

Summons
% Variation

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 3: Numbers of furloughed employments by local authority June, July, August

Page 89

Total Kent County
Ashford
Canterbury
Dartford
Dover
Gravesham
Maidstone
Sevenoaks
Folkestone and Hythe
Swale
Thanet
Tonbridge and Malling
Tunbridge Wells

June
furloughed
170,700
15,300
15,900
13,400
11,700
12,500
19,700
12,900
11,200
16,000
14,900
14,700
12,400

July
furloughed
196,900
17,400
18,800
16,000
13,300
14,500
22,600
15,100
12,700
18,100
16,800
17,200
14,500

August
furloughed
206,900
18,600
19,600
16,900
13,900
15,400
23,700
15,700
13,200
19,000
17,700
18,000
15,200

Eligible employments
679,600
59,800
61,900
55,500
46,400
49,000
80,600
51,500
44,300
64,600
54,800
60,300
51,000

August
Take-up rate
30%
31%
32%
31%
30%
31%
29%
31%
30%
29%
32%
30%
30%

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would
disclose exempt information.

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT
INFORMATION

Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

